1965

New Hampshire Insurance Co. v. Ballard-Wade, Inc. et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a civil suit brought by an insurance company on a theory of absolute liability to recover from the lessees amounts expended by the insurance company in repairing fire damage to the leased premises.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The lower court ruled that as a matter of law the lease imposed absolute liability on the lessees and, accordingly, limited the non-jury trial solely to the question of amount of damages. Judgment was awarded the insurance company in the amount of \$4,200.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellants seek a reversal of the judgment below and a remand with instructions to enter judgment in their favor against the insurance company, or in the alternative, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Patricia Graff Trust (called lessor), not a party to this action, leased certain premises in Salt Lake City, Utah, to the defendants-appellants (called lessee). (R. 13) There was a substitution of parties to the lease, not material to this controversy. (R. 13)

During the term of the lease, a fire occurred on the premises. (R. 13) The lessor assured the lessee that insurance would take care of the repair. (R. 120) No demand or request was made upon the lessee to repair the damage, the lessor making all arrangements for the repair. (R. 119) Plaintiff-respondent, New Hampshire Insurance Company, (called insurance company) caused repairs to be effected. (R. 13)

Over a year and a half later, the insurance company initiated this action against the lessee by a two count complaint. The first count sounded in negligence. (R. 1, 13) The alternative second count was based on the theory that one paragraph in the lease (paragraph 8, entitled Indemnity) (R. 18) imposed absolute liability as a matter of law on the lessee for damage to the premises. (R. 2, 14, 57)

Although the pretrial order would have required a

finding of negligence against the lessee in order that liability be imposed under the second count of the complaint (R. 14), on motion of the insurance company and before the taking of any evidence, the trial court ruled that the indemnity provision of the lease imposed absolute liability on the lessee. (R. 22, minute entry; R. 58, lines 19-21) The trial court determined, at the request of the insurance company, that negligence on the part of the lessee need not be shown and that the only issue which the court would hear was the question of the amount of damages. (R. 58, line 21)

The trial court sustained the insurance company's objections to the lessee's offer of proof that the lease was drafted by the lessor's attorney, and an offer of proof as to the intent of the parties with reference to the effect of the maintenance provision (paragraph 4) and the indemnity provision (paragraph 8) of the lease. (R. 63)

On motion of the insurance company, its negligence count was dismissed without prejudice. (R. 22, minute entry; (R. 58)

After hearing evidence the trial court, sitting without a jury, rendered judgment against the lessee in the amount of \$4,200.

The parts of the lease, which is set forth in full in the record (R. 17-19), relevant to the issues on appeal are:

4. MAINTENANCE: . . . Lessee agrees at its own expense to maintain all the said premises, including roof, exterior, interior, plumbing, heating, electrical fixtures and glass in the build-

ing on said premises in a good and useable condition, and to maintain the hard surfacing of the premises in a good and useable condition, and at the expiration of this lease or sooner termination thereof to surrender said premises in as good condition as when received, ordinary wear and tear, unavoidable damage by fire, the elements or other casualties excepted. . . .

and

8. INDEMNITY: The Lessee will exonerate, save harmless, protect and indemnify Lessor from and against any and all losses, damages, claims, suits or actions, judgments and costs which shall arise or grow out of any injury to or death of persons and/or damage to property, caused by, arising from, or in any manner connected with the exercise of any right granted or conferred hereby, or the use, maintenance, operation and/or repair of the said premises, buildings, equipment, machinery, and appliances thereon, whether sustained by Lessee or Lessor, their respective agents or employees or by any other persons or corporations which seek to hold the Lessor liable.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING ON THE MOTION OF THE INSURANCE COMPANY THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE LEASE IMPOSED ABSOLUTE LIABILITY ON THE LESSEE:

- A. BECAUSE PROPER CONSTRUCTION OF THE LEASE SHOWS THAT ABSOLUTE LIABILITY WAS NOT INTENDED BY THE PARTIES.

It was at the insistence of the insurance company

that the trial court ruled that the lease imposed absolute liability on the lessee and refused to hear any evidence but that bearing solely on the issue of the amount of damages. Although the lessee was prepared to litigate fully all issues fairly raised by the complaint, the insurance company chose to rest its case entirely upon the theory that the indemnity provision of the lease imposed absolute liability on the lessee. It is the lessee's contention that the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that the lease imposed absolute liability on the lessee.

It should be noted that paragraph 4, entitled Maintenance, deals with maintenance of the premises and the duty of the lessee to the lessor with reference to repair and maintenance of the premises by the lessee and the conditions, qualifications and exceptions of such requirement. It surely does not impose absolute liability or any semblance of it.

On the other hand, paragraph 8, entitled Indemnity, is a broadly drawn provision purporting to provide that the lessee will save the lessor harmless from losses arising out of the use of the premises. While its language is not a model of clarity, it is clearly primarily intended to protect the lessor from claims of third parties which might arise out of the lessee's activity on the leased premises.

A lease is a contract and as such is properly interpreted by the long and well established rules of contract interpretation. In the interpretation of any contract, the

cardinal principle is that the intent of the parties should be ascertained. *Anderson v. Great Eastern Casualty Co.*, 51 Utah 78, 168 Pac. 966 (1917).

The most important rule used in determining the intent of the parties to a written instrument is that the instrument should be read as a whole and effect given to all of its provisions if possible. *Minkoff v. McLean*, 295 Pa. 396, 145 Atl. 534 (1929). In *Neal D. Ivey Co. v. Franklin Associates, Inc.*, 370 Pa. 225, 87 A.2d 236 (1952) the court said, at page 239:

It is a rule of universal application that in construing a contract each and every part of it must be taken into consideration and given effect if possible, and that the intention of the parties must be ascertained from the entire instrument. An interpretation will not be given to one part of a contract which will annul another part of it.

It is but logical, sensible and just that a contract be construed so that all of its provisions be given effect, if possible. *Hull v. Magnolia Petroleum Co.*, 119 F.2d 123 (1941); Restatement of Contracts, § 236(c).

Corbin states the rule in the following language:

If the apparent inconsistency is between a clause that is general and broadly inclusive in character and one that is more limited and specific in its coverage, the latter should generally be held to operate as a modification and pro tanto nullification of the former. 3 Corbin on Contracts, § 547, p. 176 (1960).

The reason for the rule is that the specific provision

more exactly states the intention of the parties than the broad or general clause. *Denver Joint Stock Land Bank v. Markham*, 106 Colo. 509, 107 P.2d 313 (1940); *Smith v. Russ*, 184 Kan. 773, 339 P.2d 286 (1959); *Wilder v. Wilder*, 138 Cal. App.2d 152, 291 P.2d 79 (1955).

In *Smith, supra*, one provision of a lease provided that the lessee “. . . shall not release or sublease said premises, or any portion thereof or assign this lease nor shall there be any renewal or extension of the same without written consent. . . .” of the lessor. Another provision more specifically provided that the lessee “. . . has the option of extending this lease for an additional five (5) years. . . .” The court ruled that the specific provision would control over the general one to the extent necessary to give effect to the specific provision.

In *Wilder, supra*, where one provision purported to cover all claims and another purported to cover specific, enumerated claims, the court held that the general provision must give way to the extent needed to accommodate the specific provision.

In the instant controversy, the indemnity provision is sweepingly broad and general in its terms, seemingly unlimited as to persons, property or damages involved, while the maintenance provision, on the other hand, is very specific, setting forth in detail the duty of the lessee to the lessor with reference to the leased premises. The specific maintenance provision sets forth with exactitude the property with which it is concerned, the degree

and extent of duty involved, and the exceptions to this duty.

Under the view which the insurance company induced the trial court to adopt, paragraph 4 is an absolute nullity. It is as though it were never agreed upon and included in the lease by the parties at all. Under the insurance company's interpretation of the lease (to which it was not a party) the lessor could insure against any and all loss, damage or injury of any kind to the premises and upon payment of the claim by the insurance company, it could hold the lessee absolutely liable, even for the causes specifically enumerated in the maintenance provision.

This is an absurd result which flies in the face of common sense and reason and does violence to the primary and fundamental rule that all parts of an instrument will be given effect if possible. All that can be said for the rule espoused by the insurance company is that it would provide an unearned financial windfall for the insurance carrier which has already been paid the premium it specified for the risk involved. We respectfully submit that this is insufficient justification for such a radical change in basic contract law.

Although it is not essential to the proper disposition of the case, another rule of contract interpretation used to reconcile conflicting provisions without going outside the instrument itself would also require a reversal. This is the frequently stated rule that where two provisions conflict, the first one is given effect and the second

one gives way. *Klever v. Klever*, 333 Mich. 179, 52 N.W.2d 653 (1952); *Burns v. Peters*, 5 Cal. 2d 619, 55 P.2d 1182 (1936).

In summary, it is the lessee's contention that a proper construction of the lease, without recourse to outside evidence, precludes the conclusion that the lease imposes absolute liability on the lessee.

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING ON THE MOTION OF THE INSURANCE COMPANY THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE LEASE IMPOSED ABSOLUTE LIABILITY ON THE LESSEE:

- B. BECAUSE GRANTING THE RULING REQUESTED BY THE INSURANCE COMPANY THAT THE LEASE IMPOSED ABSOLUTE LIABILITY ON THE LESSEE AND THE CONSEQUENT LIMITING OF THE TRIAL SOLELY TO THE QUESTION OF DAMAGES PREJUDICIALLY PRECLUDED THE LESSEE FROM AN OPPORTUNITY TO SHOW THE ACTUAL INTENT OF THE PARTIES TO THE LEASE.

Restricting the issues at trial, at the request of the insurance company, solely to the question of the amount of damages deprived the lessee of any opportunity to utilize two additional rules of contract interpretation which would have assisted in avoiding the error of holding that the lease imposed absolute liability on the lessee.

This court has ruled that where there is an ambiguity in a document, it is to be construed against the one who wrote it. *Gregerson v. Equitable Life & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 123 Utah 152, 256 P.2d 566 (1953); *Jordan v. Madsen*, 69

Utah 112, 252 Pac. 570 (1926). This is also the restatement rule. Restatement of Contracts, § 236(d).

The insurance company thus led the trial court further into error by insisting that it exclude, which it did, evidence as to who drafted the lease. (R. 63)

Another most important and fundamental rule in contract interpretation is that the parties own interpretation of the instrument should be given great, if not conclusive, weight. *Jenkins v. Jensen*, 24 Utah 108, 66 Pac. 773 (1901). The course of conduct of the insurance company led the trial court into the further error of excluding evidence of the interpretation of the parties to the instrument. (R. 63)

Not only is the interpretation which the parties place on the instrument important, but also, as pointed out by this court, preliminary negotiations may show such intention. Thus in *Fayter v. North*, 30 Utah 156, 83 Pac. 742 (1906) this court allowed extrinsic evidence as to what the parties meant by "appurtenances" in a deed. In *Bartels v. Brain*, 13 Utah 162, 44 Pac. 715 (1896) evidence outside the lease was allowed to show what was meant by "reasonable use."

The evidence and the offer of proof as to the intention of the parties was erroneously precluded to the prejudicial detriment of the lessee by the theory upon which the insurance company chose to try its case. (R. 63) Had this evidence as to the intention of the parties been admitted, it would have given the trial court a basis

upon which to determine whether the parties to the lease really intended that there be absolute liability, something less than absolute liability, or whether it was not the intention of the lessor and lessee that the fire insurance purchased by the lessor with the proceeds from the rent inure to the benefit of both lessor and lessee, as is the generally accepted custom in the business for any other course of conduct allows the insurance company to collect twice for the same risk, or as here, collect once for the risk and then shift the burden it was fully paid to shoulder to one whose use of the premises provided the premiums paid to the insurance carrier.

It is with considerable trepidation that counsel for the lessee assert that research has failed to disclose competent authority supporting the position of the insurance company; however, research has failed to reveal a case where the lessor, let alone an insurance company fully paid to take the risk, has asserted, let alone prevailed, on the theory inflicted by the insurance company upon the trial court below.

We respectfully submit that the exclusion of the evidence as to who drafted the lease and the evidence as to the intention of the parties with reference to damage to the premises was prejudicial error.

POINT II.

THE APPROPRIATE RELIEF IN THIS CASE IS A REVERSAL WITH INSTRUCTIONS TO ENTER JUDGMENT FOR THE LESSEE; HOWEVER, SHOULD THE COURT NOT

GRANT THIS RELIEF, A NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE ORDERED.

The insurance company, plaintiff below, could have tried its case on more than one theory and on more than one issue. It chose not to do so. Over the objection of the lessee it chose to rest its entire case on the theory that the indemnity provision of the lease imposed absolute liability on the lessee and restricted the issues to be litigated solely to the question of the amount of damages.

We must assume that the insurance company stands upon the theory of absolute liability as the law of the case for it has not filed a statement of points as is required by rules 74(b) and 75(d) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for a cross appeal. Nor could it with propriety claim that the trial court erred in sustaining its wishes for as this court recently stated in *Pettingill v. Perkins*, 2 Utah 2d 266, 272 P.2d 185 (1954) at page 186, "He cannot lead the court into error and then be heard to complain thereof. To permit such action would needlessly prolong litigation, so there might never be an end thereto." Having elected voluntarily his position below "He cannot now on appeal shift his theory and position."

The theory on which this case was tried below, and its consequent posture on appeal, were determined by the insurance company. Under the rule enunciated in *Pettingill v. Perkins*, *supra*, that one "cannot lead the court into error and then be heard to complain thereof" the appropriate relief in this case is a reversal of the judgment below and a remand with instruction to enter judg-

ment for the lessee. To do otherwise would unjustly penalize the lessee who was prepared to litigate all issues raised by the insurance company's complaint. It would allow the insurance company to try one theory, then another, and then yet another, ad infinitum, so that "there might never be an end thereto."

Should the court, however, not grant the reversal and remand with instructions to enter judgment for the lessee, a new trial should be ordered.

CONCLUSION

For simplicity of language the defendants-appellants have been called by the singular "lessee." As shown, however, by the Notice of Appeal, this appeal is prosecuted for the benefit of Ballard-Wade, Inc., M. R. Ballard, Jr. and Loral R. Peterson.

The appellants respectfully pray that this court reverse the judgment of the trial court and remand with instructions to enter judgment for the appellants, or in the alternative to remand the case for a new trial.