1965

New Hampshire Insurance Co. v. Ballard-Wade, Inc. et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT THE LEASE IMPOSED LIABILITY ON THE LESSEE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The provisions of the lease agreement out of which the controversy on appeal arises are as follows:

1. MAINTENANCE: Lessee acknowledges that he has examined the premises above described, together with the improvements, buildings and hard surfacing thereon, and further acknowledges that the same are in good condition, and that he accepts said premises in their present

condition. Lessee agrees at his own expense to maintain all of said premises, including roof, exterior, interior, plumbing, heating, electrical fixtures and glass in the building on said premises in a good and useable condition and to maintain the hard surfacing of the premises in a good and useable condition, and at the expiration of this Lease or sooner termination thereof to surrender said premises in as good condition as when received, ordinary wear and tear, unavoidable damage by fire, the elements or other casualties excepted. Lessee may at his own expense remodel said premises, provided however, that no structural changes shall be made without the prior written consent of the Lessor. All improvements made or added by Lessee (except signs) shall become a part of said premises and shall remain thereon at the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease or any extension or renewal thereof. Lessee agrees to furnish Lessor with space for one office at the northern end of the building on said premises, rent free and utility free (except for telephone) for the first three (3) years of this Lease.

8. INDEMNITY: The Lessee will exonerate, save harmless, protect and indemnify Lessor from and against any and all losses, damages, claims, suits or actions, judgments and costs which shall arise or grow out of any injury to or death of persons and/or damage to property, caused by, arising from, or in any manner connected with the exercise of any right granted or conferred hereby, or the use, maintenance, operation and/or repair of the said premises, buildings, equipment, machinery and appliance thereon, whether sustained by Lessee or Lessor, their respective agents or employees or by any other persons or corporations which seek to hold the Lessor liable.

There are sixteen provisions in the lease agreement dealing with various rights, duties and obligations of lessor and lessee and the provisions are numbered consecutively and captioned accordingly. Although the agreement is one for the leasing of real property to lessor, the lease becomes, among other things, an indemnity contract by virtue of Paragraph No. 8 thereof.

“Indemnity” means reimbursement, restitution, or compensation for loss, *Traveler’s Insurance Company vs Georgia Power Company*, 51 Ga. App. 579, 181 E. 111; *National Bank of Monroe vs Wright*, 77 Ga. App. 272, 48 S.E.2d 306, 308; *Lavar vs Maga*, (Mun. Ct.) 1 NYS 2d 743, 744; *Rogers vs Shawnee Fire Insurance Company of Topeka*, 132 Mo. App. 275, 111 S.W. 592, 593, and as such one may contract to indemnify another for a loss agreed upon and stated in their agreement.

In general, there are two kinds of indemnity contract, viz., (1) contract of indemnity against liability, and (2) a contract of indemnity against mere loss or damage. A cause of action arises in favor of the indemnitee against the indemnitor under a contract of indemnity against liability only when the liability of the indemnitee arises. However, a cause of action arises in favor of the indemnitee against the indemnitor under a contract of indemnity against loss or damage when the loss is suffered by the indemnitee. *Duke vs Tyler*, 209 Iowa 1345, 230 N.W. 319, 321; *Freigy vs Gargaro Company*, 223 Ind. 342, 60 N.E.2d 288; *Tri-State Casualty Insurance Company vs Stekoll*, 201 Okla. 548, 208 P.2d 545, 549; 42 C.J.S., Indemnity § 2, p. 565.

Validity and effectiveness of an indemnity provision or contract does not require that there be a loss by the indemnitee in the form of a liability over to a third party or a person other than the contracting parties. In explaining this principle the Court said in *Board of Insurance Commissioners vs Kansas City Title Insurance Company*, Tex. Civ. App. 217 S.W. 2d 695, 697:

In a strict sense 'reinsurance' is indemnity and 'indemnity' is insurance or reinsurance in so far as each may provide payment for loss or damage suffered, since to that extent each includes the essential element of reimbursement for such loss or damage.

Rice vs National Credit Insurance Company, 164 Mass. 285, 41 N.E. 276 (1895) was an action on an account due (which is irrelevant for purpose of this discussion). In that case the indemnitee had acquired a bond of indemnity to cover losses to his customers. The Court indicated that no liability of the indemnitee over to third persons need be shown inasmuch as the indemnitor's liability arose upon the indemnitee's loss and not his liability to third parties.

It is a well established principle of contract law that indemnity agreements or contracts are to be construed as any other contract, and that giving words their legal, natural and ordinary meaning or construction is controlling where the language is neither technical nor ambiguous. 27*Am. Jur., Indemnity* § 14. Where the contract is complete on its face and is in plain, simple and unambiguous language, the rights of the parties are controlled and must be determined by its language.

42C.J.S., *Indemnity*, § 8. *Real Estate-Land Title and Trust Company vs William Cohen Building and Loan Association*, 130 Pa. Super 207, 197 A 511 (1938). In *Marks vs NYC Transit Authority*, 187 NYS 2d 693, 17 Misc. 2d 583 (1959) there was a contract between the defendant Transit Authority and the third party defendant, painting contractor, which contained a provision under which the painting contractor undertook and agreed to indemnify the Transit Authority. The indemnity provision was clear and definite and was given effect.

Almost all jurisdictions, if not all, have wrestled with the problem of interpreting or construing indemnity provisions and the rights and duties of the parties to such an agreement. The Court in *Southern Pacific Company vs Morrison-Knudsen Company*, 216 Or. 398, 338 P.2d 665 (1959) had this to say:

Since the parties themselves dealt with the question of indemnity in their written contract, we think it fair to say . . . that they intended it (the contract) rather than some general common law rule, to govern their rights and liabilities.

And in speaking of this subject in two other cases, *Russell vs. Lemmons*, Civ. App., 205 S.W.2d 629 (1947) and *Central Surety and Insurance Corporation vs Martin*, Civ. App., 224 S.W. 2d 773 (1949) the Courts said:

The nature of appellant's liability on the indemnity contract must be determined by its provisions, following the familiar maxim of law, that as a man binds himself, so shall he be bound.

Relative to any contract, including those which con-

tain indemnity provisions, the courts universally say that the intent of the parties will govern, and the contracting parties are held to their clear and understandable language deliberately committed to writing and signed by them.

Moore vs Standard Paint and Glass, 145 Colo. 151, 358 P.2d 33 (1960) involved the interpretation of an indemnity provision in a lease agreement which said: “. . . Lessor shall not be liable to lessee, its employees and customers, nor the public for any defect in the leased premises . . . nor for any injury or damage that may occur from the elements and lessee will hold lessor harmless from all liability or claims with respect to such defects or injuries.”

On the basis of that part of the provision that states that the tenant (lessee) would hold the landlord (lessor) harmless from all liability or claims with respect to defects in premises or injury or damage occurring from the elements, the tenant was held liable for damages caused by the collection of water in the basement of the leased premises as a result of a cloud burst and flooding which the lessor had allowed to exist for a considerable period of time.

The Court's reason for holding the lessee liable to the lessor under the circumstances was that the terms of the indemnity provision indicated a clear understanding by the parties that some injury might occur and the lessor leased the premises only upon the express agreement of the lessee that the latter would indemnify the lessor for any and all liability or loss which might occur.

In construing an indemnity provision in a construction contract wherein a subcontractor agreed to indemnify the contractor from all claims of injured parties, etc., in *Brotherton Construction Company vs Patterson-Emerson-Comstock, Inc.*, 178 A.2d 696 (1963), the Court attempted to ascertain the intent of the parties. In doing so it did not restrict itself to the language used in the contract but considered circumstances surrounding the parties and their object in making the agreement. The Court said:

In construing the agreement, the Court must ascertain the intention of the parties, and in doing so it is not confined to the language used, but may consider the circumstances surrounding the parties and their object in making the agreement. . . . They usually intend to provide against loss or liability of one party through the operation of the other, or caused by physical conditions which are under the control of the other and over which the party indemnified has no control. . . .

As to the use of extrinsic evidence in construction of lease agreements and specific provisions contained therein, the following cases are representative:

Erickson vs. Bastian, 98 Utah 587, 102 P.2d 310, express terms of a written contract may not be changed or nullified by parol nor may such parol testimony antecedent to the reduction of the agreement to writing be considered where the language of the contract is clear and unambiguous. *Harvey Machine Company, Inc., vs Hatzel and Buehler, Inc.*, 54 Cal. 2d 864, 353 P.2d 924 (1960) where circumstances of the claimed wrongful con-

duct dictate that damages resulting therefrom were intended to be dealt with in the [indemnity] agreement, there is no room for construction of the agreement. It speaks for itself.

Continental Bank and Trust Company vs. Bybee, 6 Utah 2d 528, 306 P.2d 773 if an ambiguity in a contract can be reconciled from a reasonable interpretation of the instrument, extrinsic evidence should not be allowed. The intent of the parties to the contract should be ascertained first, from the four corners of the instrument itself, second, from other contemporaneous writings concerning the same subject matter, and third, from the extrinsic parol evidence of the intentions.

The law, then, in this area is unequivocal. In construing a contract provision one must look to the words of the contract which reflect the agreement and presumably the intention of the parties thereto. If the contract is unambiguous, the words are given their usual, natural, and ordinary meaning, which it is assumed all average, reasonably intelligent people know and understand, and the parties having made their agreement are bound by it. If a particular provision in the agreement is not clear, the Courts then look to the entire contract for assistance in ascertaining the meaning.

Paragraph 8 of the Lease Agreement in question is an indemnity provision and is so entitled. In clear, unambiguous, and unequivocal terms it states that "the Lessee will . . . indemnify Lessor from . . . *any and all losses* (emphasis added) . . . which shall arise or grow

out of . . . damage to property, caused by, arising from, or in any manner connected with the exercise of any right granted or conferred hereby, or the use, maintenance operation and/or repair of said premises, buildings, . . . whether sustained by Lessee or Lessor, their respective agents or employees *or* (emphasis added) by and other persons *or* (emphasis added) corporations which seek to hold the Lessor liable.” The paragraph sets forth a provision of indemnity against loss by the Lessor. It clearly states that if the Lessor sustains any loss or damage to its buildings which loss results from the exercise of any right conferred under the lease, viz., by reason of the use or maintenance of said buildings, then Lessee will indemnify Lessor for such loss. It becomes necessary to shed the vestment of reasonableness and under the accepted legal standards of construction to engage in conclusive mental thrashing to arrive at an interpretation of this indemnity provision so distorted as to be able to say it is ambiguous. If it is not ambiguous, the parties are bound by what they agreed to and defendants were not entitled to produce extrinsic evidence from defendants, or any other source, to vary the terms of the written contract.

The Trial Judge held that the agreement was unequivocal by its terms and that if Lessor sustained any loss defendants must indemnify the Lessor or its assignees for such loss, and in doing so he precluded defendants from introducing oral evidence in an attempt to show that the provision meant something other than what it clearly stated. It is plaintiff’s position, which is earnest-

ly urged upon the Court, that the Trial Judge did not err in his ruling.

In attempting to show an ambiguity on the face of the lease, defendants quote the provisions of paragraph 4. They insist that its terms are either inconsistent with or take precedence over paragraph 8. However, paragraph 4 is a maintenance provision and it is so entitled. It relates to the upkeep of the premises and the surrender of them to Lessor. The important applicable part of the paragraph is as follows:

“ . . . Lessee agrees at his own expense to maintain all of said premises, . . . in a good and useable condition, and, at the expiration of this Lease or sooner termination thereof to surrender said premises in as good condition as when received, ordinary wear and tear, unavoidable damage by fire, the elements or other casualties excepted. . . ”

Defendants assert that since this provision requires them to maintain the buildings at their own expense, except for unavoidable fire, paragraph 8 cannot be construed to impose absolute liability upon them for loss as an indemnity against loss agreement. Plaintiff cannot agree with that position for the following reasons:

1. The provision is one relating to maintenance requiring defendants to keep the buildings in their possession or control and while doing so, to continue to preserve them in essentially the same condition as when taken under the lease;

2. Upon the termination of the lease and after defendants have used the premises and maintained them,

then defendants are to surrender the premises in as good condition as when received, unavoidable damage by fire excepted;

3. If at the termination of the lease, defendants surrender the buildings which had been damaged by an unavoidable fire, it still has a duty to repair, maintain, or preserve the building but repairing it under the maintenance aspect of the agreement requires that the buildings be repaired by Lessee at its expense while the surrender of premises terms merely states that Lessee may surrender the building to Lessor in a damaged state. There is no implication in the lease that Lessee does not have to repair for any fire loss. Viewed in light of this construction of paragraph 4, there can be little question that the two provisions, paragraph 4 and paragraph 8, require the Lessee to repair and maintain the buildings while using them, and upon expiration of the lease to either repair any damage to the buildings at its expense or surrender them to Lessor in a damaged condition and indemnify Lessor for any damage to the buildings.

Plaintiff asserts that the lease agreement is plain and unambiguous in its terms, that Lessor and Lessee purposely agreed upon an indemnity against loss by Lessee to protect property that was part of a trust and which the Lessor's Trustees had a legal duty to protect.

Plaintiff further urges upon the Court that the Trial Judge acted properly and did not err in ruling that the

indemnity provision of the lease imposed liability for loss upon lessor as a matter of law and in refusing to permit oral evidence by defendants to alter the terms of the lease.

POINT II

THE PROPER DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IS AFFIRMANCE OF THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT.

The plaintiff, New Hampshire Insurance Company, having prevailed in the Trial Court and being of the opinion that no error has been committed, admittedly has not filed a cross-appeal as defendants seem to think it should have done. If plaintiff thought its actions in the lower court would have lead the court into prejudicial error, it should go without saying that it would not have taken the steps it did while there.

In Point II of its Brief, defendants indicate that the appropriate relief in this case is to reverse the judgment of the trial court with instructions to enter judgment for the Lessee, or, in the alternative, to grant defendants a new trial. Plaintiffs position is that no error was committed by the Trial Court and consequently its judgment should be affirmed. In presenting its argument at this point, in support of its position, plaintiff incorporates the law and argument presented in Point I of the Brief.

As pointed out in the Statement of Facts, plaintiff filed a Complaint for damages against defendants setting forth two counts — one, based on negligence, and the other, on absolute liability under the lease. Upon the

ruling by the trial court that the Lease did impose absolute liability on defendants, plaintiff, with the court's permission, elected to prosecute its claim on the basis of absolute liability rather than under negligence and thereupon dismissed the negligence count without prejudice. Therefore, the theory of the case at trial and the posture of the case on appeal were determined by the trial court with the urging of plaintiff.

Defendant was not unjustly penalized by not being able to litigate all issues raised by plaintiff's Complaint. To so assert, under the facts of the case, is to utter the anguished, Victorian cry of "It's not fair." Since plaintiff's action was filed, several years ago, defendants have had the opportunity to answer all issues brought up by plaintiff's Complaint and of presenting and explaining its position to the court by filing any and all necessary pleadings, taking advantage of all permitted discovery techniques, having a pre-trial conference of the case where all issues were discussed by counsel and the court, reviewing the lease and its various provisions, and arguing the law in relation thereto to the trial court before trial of the case, and arguing the law to the trial court relative to the introduction of extrinsic evidence to show the meaning of the lease provisions. After having had these opportunities to answer plaintiff's Complaint and to present its case at trial and rebut plaintiff's case at the time of trial, upon the ruling of the trial court, after argument by counsel, disposing of all matters of law and setting the issues for trial of the matter as is the prerogative and the duty of the trial court, defendants protest that it was unjustly penalized by not being

entitled to litigate all issues raised in plaintiff's Complaint. Compelling plaintiff to try the case on the theory of negligence, even after the court had correctly ruled on liability under the lease would require plaintiff to proceed on one count regardless of the merit of another and would unjustly and unduly burden the parties, counsel, juries, and the court by requiring them to proceed with matters irrelevant to the right of plaintiff to recover from defendants. The courts and counsel are too busy to engage in such nonsense.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff respectfully asserts that the position taken by defendants in this case and as presented in Point I and Point II of Appellant's Brief is not well taken. Considering the record on appeal, with the exhibits as part thereof, and the argument contained in its Brief, Appellant is not entitled to the relief it seeks in this matter since no error was committed by the Trial Court in its disposition of this case.

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, it appears clear that this court should affirm the judgment of the District Court wherein judgment was granted in favor of plaintiff and against defendants Ballard-Wade, Inc., and M. R. Ballard, Jr.